1952

# State of Utah v. Delbert Waters : Brief of Defendant and Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties are designated as they were in the trial court. The defendant, Delbert Waters, was charged by information filed in the District Court for Sevier County State of Utah, with the crime of assault with intent to rape, as follows:

"Delbert Waters, having heretofore to-wit, on the 29th day of August, 1951, by G.W. Coons Esq., Justice of the Peace of Richfield Precinct Sevier County, State of Utah, sitting as a Committing Magistrate, been duly bound over to answer this charge, is accused by J. Vernon Erickson, District Attorney for the Sixth Judicial District of the State of Utah, of the crime of assault with intent to commit rape and said District Attorney charges that on the 1st day of August 1951 at Sigurd, County of Sevier, State of Utah, the said Delbert Waters, did wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously violently and forcibly make an assault upon one Carol Lipsey, a female not then and there the wife of said Delbert Waters and with intent then and there feloniously and by force and violence, to carnally know and ravish the said Carol Lipsey and accomplish with her an act of sexual intercourse, against her will and without her consent contrary to the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Utah "

On the 11th day of September, 1951, defendant was arraigned before Honorable John L. Sevy, Jr., Judge of the District Court of Sevier County, State of Utah.

The defendant entered a plea of not guilty to the charge. The case came on for hearing before the Honorable John L. Sevy, Jr. on the 18th day of September, 1951, who heard the case without a jury, a jury being expressly waived by the defendant. The opening statement by the State was waived by District Attorney J. Vernon Erickson.

The State presented its evidence and rested, the defendant at this time moved to have the case dismissed on the ground that the State had failed to sustain its burden and had not produced sufficient evidence to support the issues raised by the information. The motion was denied. The defendant then rested and submitted the case upon the evidence adduced by the State, no further evidence being put into the record and the State waiving its right to make

a closing statement.

On the 19th day of September, 1951, the Honorable John L. Sevy, Jr. announced the verdict of the court was the defendant was guilty as charged. There - after on the 24th day of September and before the judgment and sentence of the court had been pronounced, the defendant filed a motion for arrest of judgment against him on the ground that the information filed by the State and the conduct of the State during the course of the trial did not apprise the defendant of the particular crime w4th which he was charged. That during the process of the trial two separate offenses of the same nature were attempted to be shown . The State did not elect to prosecute one offense or the other. Each offense was argued before the Court and the defendant was found guilty of the charge made



in the information. No finding was made as to the separate offenses. The defendant was thereby tried without having been given proper notice and was prejudiced in that he was unable to make a proper defense. Defendant is further prejudiced because he is unable to determine from the record which alleged offense he was found guilty of committing. The motion was also based on the ground that the facts proved did not constitute the public offense of which he was found guilty. The motion was denied and the defendant was sentenced to be imprisoned in the Utah State Prison for an indeterminate term of not less than one or more than ten years. The defendant after judgment and sentence had been pronounced, filed a motion for a new trial on the ground that the decision was contrary to the evidence adduced during the course of

the trial and that the evidence was totally insufficient to justify the verdict and decision of the court. The motion was denied. Thereafter, the defendant appealed to the Supreme Court of the State of Utah.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

There is very little dispute as to the facts in this case. The defendant did not take the witness stand to controvert any of the facts elicited from the State's witnesses and no witnesses were called in the defendant's behalf.

The defendant, Delbert Waters, met his friend Garry Dickinson, who was then 16 years of age at about 8:30 p.m. on the evening of July 31, 1951, at Garry Dickinson's home in Richfield. Delbert Waters was driving a car he had borrowed from his brother. The boys decided to go in the car and get drunk. (Tr. 22)

Delbert Waters had been drinking before he met Garry. Garry Dickinson testified that he thought Delbert had had quite a bit to drink by that time. While together, the boys drank beer which had been purchased by Delbert Waters at Jorgenson's Cafe in Salina Utah. (Tr. 23) Garry Dickinson estimated that they drank about 3 cans of beer each before they decided to go the home of Carol Lipsey, the complaining witness, which was in Sigurd, Utah. (Tr. 23).

The testimony of Carol Lipsey was that at the time of the alleged offense she was 15 years of age (Tr. 3) and she was spending the night of July 31st and August 1, 1951, at home alone. Her parents were in Yellowstone National Park (Tr. 5) and her sister was spending the night with her Aunt and Uncle. (Tr. 6) She said that she had gone to bed and

had been in bed for a short time when Garry Dickinson opened the door to her room and came in. He turned on the light and asked if Eleith was there. Carol Lipsey answered "No" and asked what made him think she would be there. He said "I thought she was going to stay here. " (Tr. 6) Carol said she then checked the time and it was 12:20 a.m. (Tr. 6). She said it was "kinda late to go and see Eleith, wasn't it?" Garry said "O.K." and went out turning off the lights and closing the door. (Tr. 6).

A short time later Garry Dickinson returned with the defendant, Delbert W ters. They went into the bedroom and turned on the light. Carol Lipsey was clothed in only her brassiere and pants and said that she could not get out of bed because she had so little on. (Tr. 7) The defendant and Garry said they had

decided to come in and talk to her. The boys talked to her for some time continuing to drink beer in her presence, (Tr. 9) Garry Dickinson went to use the telephone and left Delbert Waters and Carol Lipsey alone in the bedroom together. Delbert went over to the bed and started patting Carol on the head and he called her "blondie." She testified that she then shoved him away from her. (Tr. 7) Delbert requested Carol Lipsey to call a girl for him, so she put on a housecoat and went to the telephone. (Tr. 7-8) The girl Miss Lipsey called was in bed and did not come to the telephone. (Tr. 8) Delbert Waters again started patting Miss Lipsey on the head and called her "blondie." She ran into the bedroom and he followed her. He put his arms around her and pushed her onto the bed. Carol Lipsey called to Garry

Dickinson and he came into the bedroom and "took hold" of Delbert and said "come on, let's go." (Tr. 27) Delbert got up and went into the other room and sat down on the couch. He then said "Let s not go now." (Tr. 27) A short time later Delbert Waters did leave the house with Garry Dickinson. (Tr. 28) The record shows that at the time he pushed Miss Lipsey down on the bed he was fully clothed and at no time did he attempt to undress or expose himself in any manner. (Tr. 27).

Garry Dickinson testified that he and Delbert Waters drove to Salina, Utah and that they continued to drink beer. He estimated that Delbert drank approximately 8 cans of beer while the two boys were together. (Tr. 32) When the boys left Salina and started back for Sigurd, Delbert Waters was driving the car. The

effects of his drinking showed in his driving and Garry Dickinson offered to drive the car. (Tr. 32) Garry Dickinson said that Delbert Waters stopped in front of the Carol Lipsey home and got out of the car. When he got out of the car he staggered and Garry thought he was "quite drunk" at that time. (Tr.33 )

Carol Lipsey testified that after the boys left her place she went back to bed and went to sleep. Some time later she was awakened and Delbert Waters was in bed with her. (Tr. 10) He had both arms around her. (Tr. 10) She had her back to him. (Tr. 16) Delbert Waters was attempting to feel her person; he attempted to feel her chest and she testified that she grabbed his hands, moved them and held them for some time. He later moved his hands down and attempted to remove her pants. He pulled on them

but at no time offered to tear them from her person. (Tr. 17) She testified that he had his "thing" out and tried to put it between her legs (Tr. 11) but she took hold of his hands and held them. He then held her around the waist and went to sleep. (Tr. 11) The record shows that Delbert Waters was a man of considerable strength and had been making his livelihood by cutting and hauling cedar posts and pine poles from the hills which is hard physical labor. He could carry posts and poles of considerable weight and load them on the truck. It was estimated that some of the posts he carried were up to 120 pounds in weight. Garry Dickinson testified that he himself could not carry and load posts of such size. (Tr. 30-31) Miss Lipsey on cross examination admitted that she did not have the strength to



overpower him. (Tr. 17)

After Delbert Waters went to sleep, Carol Lipsey slipped out of bed and went into the bathroom. She then left the house and ran to the home of her Aunt and Uncle. (Tr. 11) The Aunt and Uncle came back to Carol Lipsey's home and upon finding Delbert Waters still asleep Carol Lipsey's Uncle, Willis D. Allred, called Charles Carter the Sigurd Town Marshall, who came to the Lipsey house. Mr. Carter went into the bedroom where Delbert Waters was sleeping and upon discovering that he was still asleep, he left him there and went to the telephone and called the Sevier County Sheriff Clarence Smith. Sheriff Smith came to the house shortly thereafter and talked to Delbert Waters and pulled him off the bed thereby awakening him. (Tr. 34-36) The Sheriff then took Delbert Waters to

the Sevier County Jail at Richfield and incarcerated him.

ARGUMENT  
Point 1

THE FINDING OF THE COURT WAS CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND WAS UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

Rape as defined by our statute 103-51 15 Utah Code Annotated, 1943, is an act of sexual intercourse accomplished with a female not the wife of the perpetrator, under any of the following circumstances:

1. When the female is under the age of thirteen years.
2. When she is incapable through lunacy or any other unsoundness of mind whether temporary or permanent of giving legal consent.
3. Where she resists, but her resistance is overcome by force or violence.
4. Where she is prevented from resisting by threats of immediate and great bodily harm accompanied by apparent power of execution, or by any intoxicating, narcotic or anæ-

- thetic substance administered by or with the privity of the accused.
5. When she is at the time unconscious of the nature of the act and this is known to the accused.
  6. Where she submits under the belief that the person committing the act is her husband, and this belief is induced by any artifice, pretense or concealment practiced by the accused with intent to induce such belief.

The facts of this case restrict us to a consideration of whether the defendant assaulted Carol Lipsey with intent to commit rape by force and violence and by overcoming her resistance. "In order to warrant a conviction of the crime of assault with intent to commit rape, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt every essential element of rape except the final consummation of the act. It must be shown beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant made an assault upon the female, with intent to use such force as was necessary in order to have

sexual intercourse with her against her will and without her consent." State v. Anderson (Utah) 257 P. 370. The intent to rape is the very gist of the offense, it cannot be assumed. It is the position of the appellant that the State has failed to show evidence from which an intent to commit rape can reasonably be found. An examination of the facts in this case tends to negative such intent rather than to sustain it.

The record shows that the first time Delbert was at the home of Carol Lipsey on the morning of August 1, 1951, he was at no time in the house with her alone. He came to the house with Garry Dickinson a friend of Carol Lipsey, and Garry Dickinson was present in the house though not always in the same room. The boys had gone into the bedroom where Carol Lipsey was sleeping and had talked

to her for some time. While Garry Dickinson was in another room using the telephone, it is shown that the defendant went over to Miss Lipsey, who was still in bed. and patted her on the head and called her "blondie." Carol Lipsey shoved him away. He then asked Carol Lipsey to call Ann Gurr, a young girl living in Sigurd, Utah, for him. She agreed to do this and put on a housecoat and went to the telephone. After the call was made and it was learned that Ann Gurr was in bed, Delbert Waters again patted Carol Lipsey on the head and called her "blondie." She then ran into the bedroom. Delbert Waters followed and caught her and put his arms around her and pushed her onto the bed. He was at this time fully clothed and at no time did he expose his body or private parts. He did nothing to disrobe Miss

Lipsey. He at no time threatened her, struck her or attempted to remove or tear her clothing from her person. The evidence taken in the worst light against the defendant may support the idea that he did desire to have intercourse with Miss Lipsey if he could have gained her consent but this evidence is so equivocal that this may not be a fair inference to draw from it. After Delbert Waters had pushed Carol Lipsey onto the bed she called Garry Dickinson. He came into the bedroom and took hold of Delbert Waters and said "Come on, let's go." (Tr. 27) Delbert got up, went into another room and sat down on the couch. He then left the house with Garry Dickinson shortly thereafter. Miss Carol Lipsey then remained in the house alone and went back to bed and to sleep, which tends to show that she did not take a

too serious view of the events that had taken place.

Delbert Waters and Garry Dickinson left Carol Lipsey in Sigurd and drove to Salina, Utah. Delbert Waters had been doing a great deal of drinking and he, along with Garry Dickinson, continued to drink. Garry Dickinson, one of the State's witnesses, said that Delbert Waters had had "quite a bit to drink" when he came to Garry's home early in the evening and that he estimated that while he and the defendant were together, Delbert Waters drank about eight cans of beer. When they returned from Salina to Sigurd the defendant was driving the car and the effects of his drinking showed in his driving to such an extent that Garry Dickinson offered to drive. When Delbert Waters stopped the car in front of Carol Lipsey's home, he staggered as

he walked toward the house.

Delbert Waters walked into the house and into Carol Lipsey's bedroom. Taking Miss Lipsey's testimony at full value, he got into bed with her and put his arms around her. She was in bed with her back to the defendant. He at first started to feel her person. He moved his hands to her chest. She grabbed his hands and was able to move them down to her waist and then was able to hold them for some time. He freed his hands and moved them down to the lower regions of her body. He started to remove her pants and when she resisted this action he placed his hands under them. Carol Lipsey testified that she could also feel his "thing" and that he had tried to put it between her legs. She said that she then "took hold of his hands and held them just as tight as I



could." (Tr. 11) Delbert Waters then held her around her waist for a short time and went to sleep. Carol Lipsey got out of bed, leaving the defendant asleep upon the bed.

Delbert Waters had a considerable amount to drink during the evening of July 31, 1951 and the morning of August 1, 1951 and the testimony shows that he was feeling the effects of the alcohol he had consumed. The fact that he was under the influence of alcohol tends to explain some of the strange circumstance in this case and it also tends to negative the necessary criminal intent required for a conviction in this case.

Carol Lipsey was home alone on the morning of August 1, 1951. No other person besides the defendant was in the house. Her parents were in Yellowstone National Park and her sister was staying

with her Aunt and Uncle for the night. This being the case there was nothing to stop the defendant from raping Carol Lipsey on the morning of August 1, 1951, had that been his intention when he returned from Salina and went into her bedroom. The State's evidence shows that Miss Carol Lipsey a 15 year old girl , was able to control the defendant's hands when he attempted to feel her person. When Delbert Waters started to feel her lower person and to remove her pants she offered resistance by "taking hold of his hands and holding them tight." He then held her around the waist and went to sleep. Delbert Waters could not have intended to rape Carol Lipsey or he would have done so. The record shows that Carol Lipsey was able to control the defendant in spite of the great difference in the physical strength of the

two parties. Carol Lipsey was a young 15 year old girl who admits that she would not have the strength to overpower the defendant. (Tr. 17) Delbert Waters is shown to be a young man of considerable strength. He had been making his living for a period of months before the time of this alleged offence by cutting and hauling cedar posts and pine poles from the mountains. It is shown that he could carry posts of considerable weight, some of the posts were estimated to have a weight of 120 pounds, to a truck and load them on it. (Tr. 31) Garry Dickinson had been working with the defendant for a period of over a month prior to the date of this alleged offense and he testified that Delbert Waters could carry and load posts he was unable to handle. (Tr. 31)

It should be noted that the defen-

dant did no overt acts which would point unequivocally to an "intent to rape." He at no time said he was going to have intercourse or even suggested that he desired to intercourse with Carol Lipsey. He made no concerted effort to overpower her resistance, in fact, when his advances were resisted he stopped his activity and went to sleep. It should again be noted that at the time Delbert Waters got into bed with Carol Lipsey, she was the only person in the house and there was no one to interfere or prevent the raping of Carol Lipsey had that been the defendant's intention. Only one conclusion can be reached under the circumstances and that is that Delbert Waters did not intend to rape Carol Lipsey. This conclusion is strengthened and supported by a brief review of the authorities on the crime of assault with

intent to rape.

In the leading Utah case of *State v. Whittinghill*, 163 P. 2d 342 the appellant had been convicted in the court below of the crime of assault with intent to rape. In reversing the decision of the trial court this Court said:

"The facts in this case restrict us to the consideration of whether the defendant assaulted the prosecutrix with intent to commit rape by force and violence and by overcoming her resistance. An assault with intent to commit rape includes every element of the crime of rape except that the act of intercourse is not committed. The felonious intent is the essence of the offence. It is elementary, when a specific intent is required to make an act an offense, that the doing of the act does not raise a presumption that it was done with the specific intent." *Cap v. State*, 61 Okl. Cr. 173, 66 P.2d 959, at page 963; *Hall v. State* 67 Okl. Cr. 330, 93 P.2d 1107; *Kitchen v. State*, 66 Okl. Cr. 423, 92 P.2d 860.

"We think the fact, viewed most favorable for the prosecution, are not sufficient to constitute the crime of an assault with intent to commit rape. This court in *State*

v. McCune, 16 Utah 170, 51 P. 818. held as stated in the syllabi: 'In cases of assault with intent to commit rape, the intent with which the assault is made is of the essence of the offense; and, in order to convict, the jury must be satisfied, beyond a reasonable doubt, not only that the defendant had the ability and intended to gratify his passions on the person of the woman assaulted, but that he intended to do so at all events, and notwithstanding any resistance on her part.'

"When the intent is the gist of the offense that intent should be shown by such evidence as, uncontradicted, will fairly authorize it to be presumed beyond a reasonable doubt.

"In Hall v. State, supra, the court recited the evidence of the case in detail. The facts supporting intent are, we think, stronger than in the case at bar. The Oklahoma Court held the evidence was insufficient and reversed the judgment with directions to dismiss. In Kitchen v. State supra, the court says: 'The intent is the gist of the offense and every laying of hands on the female under the age of consent, even though improper does not necessarily imply an intent to have sexual intercourse. Indecent liberties may be taken with a child without any such intent. The statute recognizes this

ON providing a penalty for taking indecent liberties with a female child without intent to commit the crime of rape.'

"See State v. Mortensen, 95 Utah 541, 83 P. 2d 261. And likewise in the case now before us the fact that the accused in court admitted that it was his intention to have sexual intercourse with the prosecutrix and that he put his hands on her is not evidence that will, of itself support the criminal intent required for conviction of assault with intent to rape, for such evidence will support a contention that the accused did the acts for the purpose of arousing the passions of the prosecutrix expecting her to submit to intercourse, just as well as a criminal intent to commit rape.

"Specific intent may be inferred from acts. It may be shown like other facts from surrounding circumstances. The circumstances when taken together must admit of no other reasonable hypothesis than that of guilt to warrant conviction. Kitchen v. State, supra.

"The case of State v. Hennessy 73 Mont. 20, 234 P. 1094, 1096, when considered with the case at bar is both interesting and enlightening. The facts of the case are much stronger in support of criminal intent to commit rape than those now before us. The Montana Court held:

'We credit every physical act of the defendant as detailed by the prosecutrix with the full force of every reasonable deduction or inference, or deduction which in our judgment will sustain the contention of the State that the defendant at any time entertained the intention to overcome the physical resistance of the prosecutrix and have sexual intercourse with her without her consent. Accepting her story as true, she was, of course, offended, assaulted, and aggravatingly insulted. From her testimony, if true, we must conclude that the defendant desired to have sexual intercourse with her, and as said in Commonwealth v. Merrill, supra (14 Gray, Mass., 415, 77 Am. Dec. 336). 'There is ample proof of gross indecency and lewdness and simple assault. However, such facts alone do not constitute an attempt to commit the crime of rape. They will support a charge of assault of an aggravated character and, as to this, the State was not without an ample remedy, and available and adequate statutory provision for punishment in the event of a conviction. The defendant's conduct, as detailed by the prosecutrix, was reprehensible the more so because of his station in life, and may not be justified or approved in morals or law.'

"There is no evidence that the defendant said he was going to rape

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