1952

State of Utah v. Delbert Waters : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Delbert Waters, defendant and appellant herein, was tried before the court without a jury, and convicted of the crime of assault with intent to commit rape.

The assault upon which the State relies for conviction was committed some time between the hours of 2:00 o'clock and 3:00 o'clock A.M. on the morning of August 1, 1951. Defendant made three unauthorized intrusions into the home

of prosecutrix. The first of these was momentary, an entry and immediate departure, and was made in the company of one Gary Dickinson. The second intrusion was also made in the company of Dickinson, and lasted about an hour. The third and last intrusion defendant made alone, leaving Dickinson out in the car (Tr. 6, 7, 10, 11, 28, 29). Both defendant and Dickinson had been drinking (Tr. 31, 32).

The prosecutrix; at the time of the offense was fifteen years of age. She was alone in the house, her parents having gone to Yellowstone Park (Tr. 3, 5).

On the second intrusion defendant made improper advances toward prosecutrix (Tr. 7, 8), which were resisted by her. The third time defendant entered the house he did so by the back door, proceeded to the bedroom where prosecutrix was in bed, asleep, got into bed with her, threw his arms around her, felt her with his hands, and tried to force his penis between her legs. This sexual assault was resisted by prosecutrix to the best of her ability (Tr. 9, 10, 11). Defendant, after struggling with prosecutrix for some time, went to sleep. Prosecutrix was then able to extricate herself from his grasp, whereupon she got out of bed and ran a "block and a half or two blocks" to her aunt's home (Tr. 11, 12).

The uncle of prosecutrix notified the town Constable, who in turn, notified the sheriff (Tr. 36). When the Sheriff arrived defendant was either asleep, or pretended to be asleep (Tr. 20), his pants were still open and his privates exposed (Tr. 13). Defendant was arrested, he was convicted, and he now appeals.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE FINDING OF THE COURT.

POINT II

THE COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR ARREST OF JUDGMENT.

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE FINDING OF THE COURT.

Point I of appellant's brief challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support the finding of the court, that defendant is guilty of the crime of assault with intent to commit rape. It is respectfully submitted that the record includes ample evidence of the assault coupled with overt acts and circumstances which unquestionably indicate an intent and an attempt on the part of defendant to have intercourse with prosecutrix. Further, the uncontradicted testimony shows that the attempt was accompanied by force which was resisted by prosecutrix (Tr. 10, 11).

During the second visit defendant made advances to prosecutrix by "patting" her on the head and calling her "Blondie," at which time prosecutrix slapped his hand hard "and shoved him away (Tr. 7). Defendant again patted her,

chased her into her bedroom, threw his arms about her pushing her over on to the bed (Tr. 8). At this point prosecutrix called out and defendant was induced by his friend Dickinson to leave the house.

Prosecutrix was next aware of defendant's presence approximately an hour and one-half later when she was awakened by his assault upon her which started while she was asleep in her bed. Her testimony reveals the following:

* * * and when I woke, Delbert was in bed with me.

Q. Could you tell how much later it was?

A. Oh, I don't know what time it was then.

Q. You went to sleep and the next you recall was when you woke up?

A. When I woke up.

Q. All right. You may continue.

A. And he had both his arms around me and he was rubbing his face over my back and I didn't know what to think.

Q. How did you know it was Delbert?

A. Well, I didn't know, but I just had the feeling it was, until I came back with Kathleen and Dee. I wasn't sure who it was. I really didn't know who it was.

Q. Did he say anything?

A. No, and he had both his arms around me and held me tight around the waist and I tried to move his hands and he wouldn't move them and he tried to put hands up here (indicating)—

Q. When you say here, do you mean your chest or neck?

A. Up here, my neck (indicating). I took hold of his hands and put them back down and he started putting his hand down this way and I pushed them away (indicating).

Q. You mean on your lower body?

A. Yes.

Q. When you say "here" the record wouldn't say and I have to inquire what part of your body or your anatomy, and if you mention that part of the body, then we get it into the record, you see what I mean?

A. Yes.

Q. All right, you may continue.

A. And at first I couldn't stop him. He just, well, he was just all hands. I couldn't take hold of his hands and he tried to take my under clothes off and I don't know, but anyway his thing was out and he was trying to put it between my legs and I wouldn't let him and I didn't know what to think and I took hold of his hands and I held them just as tight as I could and he had hold of my waist so hard I couldn't move.

Q. When you say his "thing," for the record do you mean penis?

A. Yes, and I couldn't even move and I tried to move over once and he wouldn't let go of me and I raised up on my elbow and I sat there, laying on my elbow and I had to wait quite a while and then not too long he went so [to] sleep real fast, it seemed to me anyway, and I took hold of his hands, anyway I took hold of his one hand and moved it over and he didn't make any move to move it

back and I decided he must be asleep and I took the covers and moved them back and I got out of bed as quiet as I could and I jumped up and ran, and ran just as fast as I could for the bathroom, * * * I locked the door, * * * I turned on the light and from the way things was I guess he was wandering around the house, because there was a beer can on top of the toilet * * * (Tr. 9, 10, 11).

Quietly going into another bedroom prosecutrix put on a housecoat and ran "as fast as I could" to the home of her aunt and uncle's (Tr. 12).

On cross examination, prosecutrix testified as follows:

Q. You testified he attempted to remove your panties?

A. Yes.

Q. Did he attempt to tear them from your body or did he attempt to slide them down your legs?

* * * *

A. He just took hold of them and started pulling and then he put his hands underneath them (Tr. 17).

Clearly, evidence of this character affords the trier of the facts ample ground upon which to find defendant guilty.

Appellant admits the evidence shows prosecutrix had not the strength to overpower defendant and that defendant was a "young man of considerable strength" (Page 23, App. Br.) Under these circumstances appellant contends however, that the evidence does not make out the requisite intent to have carnal knowledge of prosecutrix, because he did not in fact rape her, and because he voluntarily desisted by going to sleep (Page 31, App. Br.)

In the case of State v. Andreason, 44 Idaho 396, 257 P. 370, 371, similar facts were considered sufficient to sustain a conviction of assault with intent to commit rape. The court stated:

The gravamen of the offense charged against appellant is the specific intent with which the assault, admittedly proved, was alleged to have been made; that is, that appellant attacked the person of the prosecuting witness with the aim, design, and purpose of having carnal knowledge of her. The question of intent is one of fact to be determined by the jury. (Citing cases).

* * * *

If it be conceded that appellant finally desisted in his efforts to accomplish the object which the jury found he had intended, and that it was by reason of his cessation from the encounter that he did not consummate his purpose, *this would not justify the conclusion of an absence of a lecherous desire before he withdrew from the struggle, or detract in any way from the effect of his exhibition.* (Emphasis supplied).

In People v. Lutes, 97 Cal. App. 2d 233, 179 P2d 815, 817, a case tried before the court without a jury, the court in sustaining a conviction of assault with intent to commit rape, stated the law to be as follows:

* * * It is asserted on behalf of appellant that he had no intention of committing rape, and it is argued in his behalf that the fact that he had the physical power, ability and opportunity to have committed the act and voluntarily gave up the quest without outside interference or fear of interruption is evidence that he had no such intention. The fact that appellant desisted is immaterial. The crime is complete if at any

moment during the assault the defendant intends to have carnal knowledge of the victim and to use for that purpose whatever force may be required. (Citing cases).

Whether or not such intention existed must be determined from all the circumstances and the acts of the defendant, and is a question for the trial court.

To the same effect see *People v. Norrington*, 55 Cal. App. 103, 202 P. 932; *Ross v. State*, 60 Tex. Cr. Rep. 547, 132 S. W. 793; *State v. Moore*, 110 Kan. 732, 205 P. 644.

The undisputed evidence establishes that defendant committed the assault on prosecutrix at night, in a private home, away from fear of apprehension; that he exposed his penis and attempted penetration; that he was alone and that he knew prosecutrix to be alone; that prosecutrix was frightened and resisted him the best she could. Facts of this nature have all been considered sufficient to warrant an inference of intent, drawn by the jury and the trial court. *People v. Norrington*, supra; *People v. Onessimo*, 65 Cal. App. 341, 224 P. 101; *People v. Moore*, 155 Cal. 237, 100 P. 688. See also, *People v. Jones*, 112 Cal. App. 68, 296 P. 317, 319, where the court stated that advanced preparation to commit the crime of assault with intent to commit rape was shown by the fact that the assailant apparently had every opportunity to know prosecutrix to be in her house alone.

POINT II

THE COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR ARREST OF JUDGMENT.

Appellant asserts in Point II that neither the information nor the conduct of the trial by the prosecution apprised defendant of the offense for which he was convicted. In other words, appellant seems to say the State proved two dis-failed to indicate the one of which he was found guilty. Appellant made no demand at the trial that the prosecution make any election.

It is respectfully submitted that the evidence adduced by the State shows only one offense of assault with intent to commit rape. Further, that the evidence showing the advances made to, and the improper liberties taken with the person of prosecutrix on the occasion of defendant's second visit to her home (Tr. 7, 8) was not introduced to establish said offense; and in fact did not establish it. Respondent submits that this evidence was brought out by the prosecution only to show preliminary facts with reference to the relationship of the parties, to indicate the frame of mind of defendant and the intention with which he committed the later assault. In addition it will be observed that during the second visit of defendant to the home of prosecutrix he did not expose himself, he was not there alone with prosecutrix, the lights were on, defendant did not attempt the sexual act. On the occasion of the third visit, defendant assaulted prosecutrix in her bed (Tr. 9, 10, 11, 12).

Respondent invites the court's attention to the case of *People vs. Miller*, 56 Cal. App. 472, 206 P. 89, where a conviction of assault with intent to commit rape was sustained. There the defendant took prosecutrix riding in an automobile, turned off the main highway into a "little road," threw his

arms around her and proposed sexual intercourse, she resisted, and he discontinued his advances. This incident took place in the afternoon. Later, after dark of the same day, at another location, defendant again made an assault upon prosecutrix; this time forcing her to touch his privates and demanding she accede to his demands. Defendant, on appeal, contended that the prosecution should have elected between the assault of the afternoon and that of the evening. The court, in discussing the alleged error, at page 91, said:

* * * It is apparent from the record that evidence of the occurrences during the afternoon was not offered to prove the commission of the crime at that time, but to show the relations between the parties and the conduct of the defendant as bearing upon the intent with which he committed the later assault. The case is wholly unlike that of *People vs. Williams*, 133 Cal. 165, 65 Pac. 323, relied upon by appellant, where many distinct crimes of rape were proved, covering a period of four months * * *

The cases of *State v. Hilberg*, 22 Utah 27, 61 P. 215; *People v. Laycock*, 66 Colo. 441, 182 P. 880; *People v. Martinez*, 57 Cal. App. 771, 208 P. 170; are relied upon by appellant. The evidence in these cases showed several distinct crimes of rape committed over a period of fourteen months; two years, and three days, respectively. Respondent thinks these cases are wholly unlike the case presently before the court.

Respondent respectfully submits that an examination of the record in the instant case will disclose that the information charged only one offense; further, that all of the evidence was directed toward the proof of the one offense, viz., the assault

with intent to commit rape committed on prosecutrix on the occasion of defendant's third intrusion. Therefore, it is concluded defendant was not prejudiced in his defense, nor were there grounds for a motion in arrest of judgment. 105-35-1, Utah Code Ann., 1943.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully submits that a review of the transcript and proceedings in this case reveals sufficient and ample evidence upon which to sustain the conviction of appellant of the crime of assault with intent to commit rape. The motion of appellant for arrest of judgment was properly denied, and that appellant was not prejudiced in his defense.